# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DEQUINCY BRASS,	)	NO.	81142	
Appellant, vs.	)		Electronically Filed Jan 26 2021 11:02 a Elizabeth A. Brown	Jan 26 2021 11:02 a.m.
THE STATE OF NEVADA,	)			
Respondent.	)			

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)

DARIN F. IMLAY
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF.
309 South Third Street, #226
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610
(702) 455-4685

Attorney for Appellant

STEVEN B. WOLFSON CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY. 200 Lewis Avenue, 3<sup>rd</sup> Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 671-2700

AARON D. FORD Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717 (775) 684-1265

Counsel for Respondent

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellant, Dequincy Brass ("Brass"), appeals from his judgment of conviction pursuant to NRAP 4(b) and NRS 177.015. Brass's judgment of conviction was filed on April 30, 2020. (Appellant's Appendix Vol. I at pp. 216-219). This Court has jurisdiction over Brass's appeal, which was timely filed on May 4, 2020. (I:220-223). See NRS 177.015(1)(a).

# **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because Brass went to trial and was convicted of 17 Category A felonies: four counts of lewdness with a child, nine counts of sexual assault with a

Hereinafter, citations to the Appellant's Appendix will start with volume number, followed by page number. For example, (Appellant's Appendix Vol. I at pp. 216-219) will be shortened to (I:216-219).

minor, three counts of first degree kidnapping of a minor, and one count of battery with intent to commit sexual assault, victim under 16. (I:216-219); See NRAP 17(b)(2).

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. The court violated Brass's Sixth Amendment rights by denying his requests to substitute counsel.
- II. The State presented insufficient evidence of guilt for lewdness and dissuading.
- III. Improper jury instructions contributed to Brass's convictions for lewdness and dissuading.
- IV. The court failed to give <u>Tavares</u> instructions before admitting unduly prejudicial bad act evidence that was not proven by clear and convincing evidence.
- V. The jury was improperly exposed to the prosecutor's notes and victim impact testimony.
- VI. The jury heard inadmissible hearsay testimony about "Google maps" data.
- VII. Violation of Brass's rights to due process and an impartial jury.
- VIII. Violation of Brass's right to public trial.
- IX. Violation of Brass's Confrontation Clause rights in connection with Sandra Cetl's testimony and SNCAC exam documentation.
- X. Prosecutorial Misconduct.
- XI. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel.
- XII. Cumulative Error.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On September 13, 2017, the State filed a criminal complaint charging Brass with five counts of sexual assault with a minor (V.M.). (I:1-2). On November 7, 2017, the State filed an amended criminal complaint charging Brass with four additional counts of sexual assault with a minor (a total of 9 counts), five counts of lewdness with a child, one count of child abuse, neglect or endangerment, three counts of first degree kidnapping of a minor, two counts of preventing or dissuading witness or victim from reporting crime or commencing prosecution, and one count of battery with intent to commit sexual assault, involving V.M. and two other minors: R.M. and A.W. (I:3-8).

Although the Clark County Public Defender's office was initially appointed on October 5, 2017 (I:11), Brass's family subsequently retained Mitchell L. Posin (Posin) to represent him. Posin entered a notice of Substitution of Attorney on January 18, 2018. (I:11,13). At the time, Posin was still on "probation" with the State Bar of Nevada, after pleading guilty to violations of RPC 1.1 (competence), RPC 1.2 (scope of representation), RPC 1.3 (diligence), RPC 1.4 (communication), and RPC 1.15 (safekeeping property), and receiving a 2-year suspension with 18 months "stayed." See In re Discipline of Posin, No. 69417, 132 Nev. 986 (March 25, 2016)

(unpublished). Though Posin was permitted to plead guilty in exchange for more lenient discipline, three Justices of this Court believed that the "2–year suspension with 18 months stayed [was] insufficient to protect the public and the integrity of the profession considering Posin's admitted misconduct, the number of clients harmed, the extent of the harm, and the relatively recent prior discipline for similar misconduct." In re Discipline of Posin, No. 69417, 132 Nev. 986 (March 25, 2016) (unpublished) (dissent).

At Brass's preliminary hearing on February 6, 2018, the State added an additional count of sexual assault and he was bound over to district court. (I:10). The State filed a 22-count information in district court on February 12, 2018. (I:14-19). At his initial arraignment on February 14, 2018, Brass pled not guilty and waived his right to trial within 60 days. (II:349).

On February 26, 2018, Posin filed an *Ex Parte* Motion for Authorization of Employment of Investigator and Payment of Fees. (I:21-24). In the motion, Posin explained that Brass was indigent, *that his family was paying his legal fees*, and that it would be "more efficient for a trained investigator to perform the investigation, rather than counsel." (I:22).

On March 12, 2018, Posin filed a Motion to Withdraw as Brass's attorney. (I:25-30). In the motion, Posin stated that Brass's family had not paid for legal services beyond the retainer, which covered the preliminary

hearing only. (I:26). Posin claimed "[t]he representation has been rendered unreasonably difficult by client" because of "continued false promises of impending payment." (I:27).

Posin did not appear in court when the motion was scheduled to be heard on March 27, 2018. (I:234). Brass appeared in court *alone*, *unrepresented*, and *wholly unaware* of Posin's motion. (II:351B). The court continued the hearing until March 29, 2018. (I:234). Although Brass was not present at the rescheduled hearing, Posin told the court he "didn't even talk to" his client but was withdrawing the motion after speaking with Brass's family. (II:351E-F).

At a status check on April 3, 2018, Posin requested a continuance and trial was reset for July 23, 2018. (I:351J-K).

Two months later, Posin submitted an *ex parte* order authorizing payment to Investigator Robert Lawson, which was entered on June 8, 2018. (I:33-34).

At calendar call on July 19, 2018, Posin requested a second continuance and trial was reset for November 13, 2018. (I:353).

On October 18, 2018, the State filed a Motion to Allow Dr. Sandra Cetl to Appear by Simultaneous Audio-Visual Transmission Equipment because "Dr. Cetl has recently relocated to another state." (I:94-103). At the

hearing on the State's motion on October 30, 2018, Posin said, "No, I have not filed any opposition, nor do I have any, Your Honor." (II:356). The court granted the State's motion. (II:356).

At calendar call on November 8, 2018, Posin admitted he was unprepared for trial because he was "unable" to review the State's discovery because of a "financial reason" relating to Brass's family:

MR. POSIN: Your Honor, this is -- this is my request for a continuance, as the State was mentioning when we're previously called. Um, the State I believe can announce ready. However, it's my request -- I don't feel that I can -- I can provide, um, adequate assistance of counsel understand (sic) the circumstances. And those circumstances being, that all tho (sic) the State made some discovery ready and available some time back. I was unable for financial reason of my client's family to obtain it until recently. These are very serious charges; I do need to go over some extensive discovery with him. And we do not feel we can be ready for this trial stack.

(II:359) (emphasis added). Though Posin apparently ceased preparing for trial while awaiting payment from Brass's family,<sup>2</sup> the court granted his *third* request for a continuance. (II:360). The next day, the State filed a Receipt of Copy for Discovery, proving that the State had made the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Posin subsequently told the court what it was like "being retained by his family, it's a - - it has been a family effort. Where I have gotten, ah, my fee paid probably by six or seven different family members, as they can, a little bit here and a little bit there." (II:369).

discovery available *in July*, but Posin had not picked up the documents until *eleven days before trial*, on November 2, 2018. (I:104-05,118).

At calendar call on May 7, 2019, when Posin asked for a fourth continuance, the State pointed out that Posin *still had not noticed any witnesses* and this was the *fourth* trial setting. (II:375-76). The court asked the parties to come back in two days. (II:376).

At the continued calendar call on May 9, 2019, Posin said he needed a continuance because an employee of Investigator Lawson had "quit" and was not returning his calls. (II:378). The court initially denied the motion. (II:380).

On May 13, 2019, Posin renewed his motion for a continuance. (II:384-85). At that point, Brass advised the court he was receiving ineffective assistance of counsel from Posin, who had failed to communicate with him *at all* about the substance of his case:

THE DEFENDANT: I just wanted to also add, Judge, that I haven't had a chance to speak with my lawyer regarding the details of the case, nor have we had a visit since December of last year. So I don't think he's prepared to represent me in this case as it stands right now. We haven't discussed the case at all in detail. Again, I haven't had a visit with him since December of last year. So I don't think he's -- I don't think his counsel will be efficient at this time.

(II:387). In response, Posin blamed *both* his failure to prepare Brass's case and his failure to communicate with Brass on the former investigator who would not call him back. (II:390-91).

The court pointed out that it was Posin's fault for not following up with the investigator sooner. (II:392-93). Investigator Lawson agreed that the problem could have been avoided had Posin simply contacted him in a timely manner to say that his employee was unresponsive. (II:407). However, Lawson acknowledged that his employee had done *absolutely nothing* to investigate Brass's case before leaving the job (no witnesses interviewed, no experts consulted or retained, etc.) and that Brass clearly needed a continuance. (II:404). Placing the blame squarely at Posin's feet for failing to follow up with the investigator, the court granted a fourth continuance because without it, Brass would have been denied effective assistance of counsel. (II:409,413). Trial was reset for February 24, 2020. (II:412).

At a status check on August 13, 2019, Posin said his investigator had been busy and was not "able to do as much as [he] had hoped by this point" and that he thought "perhaps" they could negotiate the case. (II:417). The State indicated that it did not appear that the defense had done anything to

work up the case since getting the continuance. (II:417). The court shared the State's concerns. (II:418).

At a status check on October 1, 2019, Investigator Lawson appeared and said he had not "personally seen the Defendant" but had spoken with Posin on several occasions. (II:421). The court asked Brass whether he had communicated with Posin and Brass said, "not completely, but I think that he is supposed to come and visit me." (II:422).

At a status check on December 2, 2019, the State explained that it *still* had not received any discovery from the defense and it did not appear that the defense had done the things it said were necessary to obtain the last continuance. (II:425). Posin claimed he had been "consulting with [his] investigator and reviewing the documents" and expected to have an expert shortly. (II:426).

At the status check on December 17, 2019, Posin claimed he was still "working on" getting an expert. (II:429). When asked what he'd done to prepare for trial, Posin told the court he "met with my client yesterday, and I've been reviewing the transcripts of the preliminary hearing, and I've met several times with my investigator." (II:429).

At the status check on January 14, 2020, Posin suddenly changed course and said he no longer intended to retain an expert but claimed he was "working diligently" and would be ready for trial. (II:433).

A week before calendar call, Investigator Lawson visited Brass at CCDC and advised him that Posin had failed to subpoena *any* of the witnesses or documents that Lawson deemed necessary for Brass's defense. (III:655). So, on February 18, 2020, Brass drafted a motion to dismiss counsel and appoint alternate counsel that was postmarked February 19, 2020 but was not received by the court until February 21, 2020. (I:154-158).

At calendar call on February 20, 2020, the court held a sealed <u>Young</u><sup>3</sup> hearing to address Brass's motion to dismiss Posin, which the court had not yet received. (II:451-61). Brass informed the court that he mailed the motion "sometime last week" when he discovered that Posin had done nothing to prepare for trial since May. (II:452). Brass explained that Posin had not met with him to discuss strategy. (II:452). The last time Posin met in person with Brass was over a month before calendar call, for 5 minutes. (II:453). And Posin had not filed motions Brass asked him to file. (II:453).

When the court asked why he did not complain sooner, Brass explained that he thought Posin was working on his case based on Posin's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Young v. State, 120 Nev. 963, 102 P.3d 572 (2004) (governing motions for substitution of counsel).

representations in court. (II:455). When the court asked Brass to identify the necessary witnesses that Posin failed to subpoena, Brass said that Lawson had that information, and he wished Lawson were present to speak on his behalf. (II:456). Brass also identified his brother as a potential witness. (II:456).

When the court asked Posin what he had done to prepare for trial, Posin claimed he had met the investigators "several times" and that he had been "going extensively over all of the documents." (II:454). Posin said, "I felt that I had a strategy; he does not seem to feel that was adequately explained to him or that he is comfortable with me." (II:454).

The Court took a brief recess so Posin could speak with Brass "about trial preparation and strategy. And see if you can figure out what the disconnect if any, is." (II:457). After giving them 14 minutes to speak, the court asked Posin, "did you tell him what your trial strategy was and why you thought it was appropriate?" (II:458). Inexplicably, Posin said no, "I did not see that as a useful exercise just now." (II:458). Posin reiterated that he had been "preparing" and was ready for trial but now felt that he and Brass had "irreconcilable differences" and he believed new counsel should be appointed. (II:461). The court orally denied Brass's motion to dismiss Posin. (II:440-46).

When trial began on February 24, 2020, Posin *finally admitted*, "there may be an issue of whether I'm providing adequate representation of counsel based on whether perhaps I dropped the ball" and he invited Investigator Lawson to address the court at a second sealed <u>Young</u> hearing. (III:645-46). Lawson then detailed – *with great specificity* – Posin's utter incompetence and failure to prepare a defense:

THE INVESTIGATOR: Good morning, Your Honor. My name is Robert Lawson and I'm a licensed investigator, been licensed since 2002 in the State of Nevada. I've probably participated as an investigator and as a parole officer in 200 or more trials.

When I appeared in your courtroom you made it clear to us, myself and Mr. Posin, what you expected as in terms of investigation and being prepared for trial. As an investigator we've met that obligation. On several occasions, we've attempted to meet with Mr. Posin and advise him of where we were in our investigation. We've met with him approximately one time. We've explained to him the need for certain subpoenas.

We've explained for him the need that we need to get certain information from Mrs. Rhoades. And on a couple of occasions I've actually emailed her myself. And her response was I've given everything to Mr. Posin. Things that Mr. Posin said he had or didn't have we subsequently found. We've never done a file review on this case.

So yesterday at 12 p.m. I met with Mr. Posin along with my other investigator Amber Leon. And during this investigation it became apparent to me that Mr. Posin had literally no knowledge of this case. I explained this to Mr. Posin. Mr. Posin was basically asking my investigator and myself how we would try the case. I explained to Mr. Posin

that during our investigation we have developed exculpatory evidence, but we needed him to issue the subpoenas.

One of the things that we developed is that there was disconnect between the information that one of the victims, victim A, I think her name is [V.M.], had given the police and then subsequent information that was provided during a preliminary hearing that Mr. Posin actually participated in. And we asked him specific questions regarding testimony. He said he would look into it and get back to us. He hadn't -- he did not. This goes directly to his -- when I say him, I'm referring to Mr. Brass' defense.

We interviewed several witnesses who could provide exculpatory testimony along with actual evidence, circumstantial evidence that Mr. Posin -- I mean, excuse me, Mr. Brass likelihood didn't commit this crime. . . . We explained that to Mr. Posin, how important it was that we provide that -- we subpoena that information.

We also were provided information that the State was going to allege that an incident occurred at the Palm Hotel. We went down to the hotel. We spoke to the manager. We gathered information that would prove that that -- the allegations could not possibly have happened.

. . . .

We also learned that there's a substantial CPS history that we asked Mr. Posin to subpoena that, so you could review it in-camera and determine what was appropriate for the defense of Mr. Brass. We talked to Mr. Posin about whether Mr. Brass was going to testify. He has never talked to Mr. Brass about testifying.

Mr. Brass, when we've met with Mr. Brass on several occasions, he has expressed to me and Amber Leon, his dissatisfaction with Mr. Posin. He feels that he is not getting an adequate defense. He said that when Mr. Posin meets with him it's very short in nature and it's well my investigatory is looking into that.

My personal feeling is that this man is looking at the rest of his life in prison. And this isn't about whether the bus runs on time whether we go to trial today or not.

(III:646-649) (emphasis added).

When the court expressed outrage that it was facing the same issue that caused the delay back in May of 2019, Lawson apologized but explained that the situation was Posin's fault. (III:650). Lawson stated, "I cannot let this Court believe for one minute that Mr. Brass is getting any kind of a defense, let alone a bad defense." (III:650) (emphasis added). Lawson then stated that he "could not be a part of a defense that [he] did not feel was adequately represented" and said he would no longer participate in the defense unless ordered to do so, and the court acquiesced. (III:658-59).

When the court advised Posin that it had "a lot of details from Mr. Lawson that basically you haven't done anything", (III:651), Posin took "issue" and told the court that he had "[p]repared potential opening statements, cross-examinations" but had not "subpoenaed anybody." (III:652). Beyond that, Posin said he reviewed "[a]ll of the State's documents." (III:652-63). But Posin conceded that, *up until yesterday*, he had not met with his investigators for over a month. (III:653). And Posin

conceded *that he had done nothing* to follow up on the leads generated by his investigators. (III:654).

When the court asked Posin "if everything or a substantial portion of what Mr. Lawson and Mr. Brass have told me is true, then do I need to refer you to the State bar?", Posin sought to protect himself from discipline by charactering the issue as a matter of trial strategy. (III:656). Then, Posin repeatedly begged the court not to refer him to the State Bar:

- "I certainly hope the Court doesn't see this as a Bar matter, because I've you know, I am even doing this I am zealously representing Mr. Brass." (III:657).
- "I don't think that's an issue again I certainly hope it's not an issue for the Bar, but it's an issue for Mr. Brass." (III:658).
- "I don't really see where that's something that I should be, you know, brought before the Bar anyway for something that I'm just doing my best to present the Court with areas I could have been more effective and haven't been." (III:658).

Crediting Posin's self-serving representations that the conflict related solely to "trial strategy", the court denied Brass's request to substitute counsel and forced him to go to trial with Posin as his attorney, without an investigator, and without any witnesses having been noticed. (III:470-74).<sup>4</sup>

Jury selection began that same day. After four seated jurors gave answers suggesting that they would not be fair and impartial, Posin asked

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>See also</u> Court's Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Withdraw Counsel at (I:167-69).

them no questions about their partiality and passed them all for cause. <u>See</u>

Section VII, <u>infra.</u>

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