IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DEQUINCY BRASS,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jun 04 2021 02:43 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 81142

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

DEBORAH L. WESTBROOK Chief Deputy Public Defender Nevada Bar #009285 Clark County Public Defender 309 South Third Street, Ste. 226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

Finally, the district court did not err in not issuing a limiting instruction prior to the admission of A.W.'s and V.M.'s forensic interviews. As explained, the interviews focused on and detailed the sexual abuse Brass was on trial for. While A.W. and V.M. may have made comments in those interviews about Brass's behaviors they were all made in the context of his abuse and behavior. Moreover, the district court cannot be faulted for failing to comb through the transcripts of V.M.'s and A.W.'s statements to ensure they did not contain information about uncharged crimes. At trial, the State offered to redact certain parts of A.W.'s and V.M.'s interviews, but Brass specifically chose not to have those statements redacted. 4AA902. Given that neither A.W. nor V.M. specifically testified to these other uncharged acts, there was no error for failing to issue a <u>Tavares</u> instruction. Moreover, Brass used V.M.'s and A.W.'s forensic interviews and preliminary hearing testimony during cross examination and closing argument to insinuate that their trial testimony was inconsistent, incredible, and should not be believed. 5AA999-1002; 6AA1231-33; 7AA1563; 7AA1565-67. Indeed, Brass's entire cross examination of V.M. and A.W. was noting each inconsistency between their forensic interviews and trial testimonies. 5AA999-1002; 6AA1231-33. During closing argument, Brass even went as far as outright accusing all victims of lying:

When you look at these inconsistencies, when you look at the evidence that is not there, when you look at the fact that all three children either have lied, or in once case has been suspected by her mother of lying, when her mother would say to the 911 people that she was bipolar, is that the doubt? What kind of doubt is that? Is that some sort of theoretical doubt? Or is that a doubt based on a reason? Is that a doubt where you're looking at the facts, looking at the reason why that is a doubt? And I would submit to you that that is a doubt based on reason. And a doubt based on reason is a reasonable doubt.

7AA1569 (emphasis added).

To the extent this Court concludes otherwise, Brass's claim nevertheless fails because there was overwhelming evidence of Brass's guilt. A.W. and V.M. consistently testified to the repeated sexual abuse they endured at Brass's hands, and the jury reasonably concluded that they were to be believed. Accordingly, Brass's claim fails.

///

///

V. THE JURY WAS NOT EXPOSED TO PROSECUTOR NOTES AND VICTIM IMPACT TESTIMONY

Brass argues that the State introduced a copy of A.W.'s forensic interview that contained notations made by the prosecutor which improperly drew the jury's attention to highly inflammatory statements that described Brass as a stalker and predator. AOB53 (citing 8AA1778; 8AA1786; 8AA1795). Brass believes these notations "arguably influenced the jury during deliberations." AOB54. Brass further argues that A.W.'s statements made during her forensic interview that A.W. wanted Brass to get the death penalty and get killed; and V.M.'s statements made in her forensic interview that she wanted Brass to get in trouble were improperly admitted and infected the trial with unfairness. AOB54-55. Brass further acknowledges that because trial counsel did not object to the admission of these statements, he has waived appellate review of the issue. AOB55. Nevertheless, Brass claims that there was no possible strategic reason not to object to the admission of A.W.'s or V.M.'s forensic interviews. Id.

As an initial matter, Brass did not object to the admission of A.W.'s forensic interview.4 6AA1312. As such, it is waived. <u>Guy</u>, 108 Nev. at 780. As such, the issue may only be reviewed for plain error. <u>Maestas</u>, 128 Nev. at 146, 275 P.3d at

⁴ Brass alleges that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to admitting the forensic interviews containing prosecutor notes. AOB55. However, given that all claims of ineffective assistance of counsel must first be pursued in a post-conviction habeas petition, the State has addressed that claim *infra* XI.

89. "Reversal for plain error is only warranted if the error is readily apparent and the appellant demonstrates that the error was prejudicial to his substantial rights." <u>Martinorellan</u>, 131 Nev. at 49.

Generally, whether a new trial is warranted because the jury was improperly exposed to attorney notes or communications is reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>U.S. v. Cooper</u>, 868 F.2d 1505, 1522 (6th Cir. 1989). The court must consider that communication's potential impact on a juror's ability to remain impartial. <u>U.S. v.</u> <u>Walker</u>, 1 F.3d 423, 429 (6th Cir. 1993). Specifically, the U.S. Supreme Court has explained that the trial court should "determine the circumstances, the impact thereof upon the juror and whether or not it was prejudicial." <u>Remmer v. United States</u>, 347 U.S. 227, 229-30 (1954).

Brass complains that an underline and markings on A.W.'s forensic interview constituted a third-party attempt to influence the jury. AOB53. Brass specifically points this Court to an underline under the words "he already tried to kill Kim" (8AA1778), a marking near A.W.'s description of Brass as a predator (8AA1786), and a marking by A.W.'s statement about a prior uncharged incident (8AA1795).

None of the cases Brass cites to support his claim are either binding or relevant. Brass cites to <u>U.S. v. Walker</u>, where the court determined that a mistrial was warranted because the jury received highlighted transcripts from a deposition but fails to inform this Court that those transcripts the jury received had already been

deemed inadmissible evidence. 1 F.3d 423, 429 (6th Cir. 1993). The same cannot be said for A.W.'s or V.M.'s forensic interviews. Brass next cites to State v. Sawyer, 263 Wis. 218 (Wis. Sup. Ct. 1953). There, a new trial was granted because "the special prosecutor's written notes substantially stating his concluding argument to the jury were inadvertently taken into the jury room." Id. at 225. However, unlike Sawyer, the markings Brass challenges here contain no statements or conclusions of the State. Sawyer is therefore inapplicable. Finally, Brass relies on United States v. Wood, where the court granted a new trial when the jury received prosecutor notes during deliberations. 958 F.2d 963 (10th Cir. 1992). Those notes were made during witness examinations and included four dates and events that were significant to the government's case, including a statement regarding what the State believed was "the 'critical time period in this case.'" Id. at 965 & 967. Here, unlike Wood, none of the markings challenged by Brass included notes or opinions reached by the State.

Accordingly, all relied upon cases by Brass are distinguishable from what happened here. If anything, those cases establish that what should matter to this Court's analysis is whether the jury was exposed to statements that they should not have been. Pursuant to NRS 51.045(1), a "statement" is defined as "an oral or written assertion." None of the challenged markings constitutes a statement because they do not claim anything.

Taking each challenged marking in turn, Brass cannot show that any marking unduly influenced the jury's ability to remain impartial. While the State may have underlined a statement, that underline does not include any of the State's own thoughts or feelings regarding Brass and any claim that this underline was the final straw that determined the jury's verdict is risible. Regarding the second and third challenged marking, they are nothing more than a stray line that can in no way be interpreted as an attempt to draw the jury's attention to that specific portion of the transcript. 8AA1786. Indeed, Brass has failed to argue, much less establish, that the State intentionally made markings to draw the jury's attention to any statement in the forensic interviews. Even if these markings had done so, Brass does not demonstrate that these marks prejudiced the verdict, both because they were not statements made by the prosecutor or opinions conveyed regarding the case and because Brass fails to establish that the jury even noticed the markings, much less attached any significance to them.

Finally, Brass claims that A.W.'s and V.M.'s statements in their forensic interviews regarding what they thought should happen to Brass should not have been admitted. As explained *supra* IV., A.W.'s and V.M.'s was properly admitted and therefore this claim must also fail. Further, because neither A.W. or V.M. testified at trial to what they thought the appropriate punishment should be, and as the jury did not sentence Brass, any claim that these statements prejudiced the verdict fails.

Further, given the overwhelming evidence of Brass's guilt, any error was harmless. Pursuant to NRS 178.598, "any error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." Nonconstitutional trial errors are reviewed for harmlessness based on whether the error had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict. Knipes v. State, 124 Nev. 927, 935, 192 P.3d 1178, 1183 (2008). On the other hand, the test for constitutional errors are "whether it is 'clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." Tavares v. State, 117 Nev. 725, 732 n.14, 30 P.3d 1128, 1132 n.14 (2001) (quoting Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 828 (1967)). Here, there was overwhelming evidence of Brass's guilt. Both A.W. and V.M. consistently testified to specific facts and details regarding Brass's abuse including specifics on what he did, how each victim was positioned, where they were, and how it felt. Accordingly, Brass's claim fails.

VI. "GOOGLE MAPS" DATA WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED

Brass argues that the district court improperly admitted Kim's testimony that she looked on her daughter's phone and saw "Google map" data and V.M. and A.W. went to Brass's brother's house together and that A.W. went to Brass's brother's house alone. AOB56. Brass explains that Kim's testimony regarding what she saw on Google maps was inadmissible hearsay. AOB56-57. Brass further claims that Kim's testimony regarding what Google maps said violated the best evidence rule because it was based on a writing that was not introduced at trial. AOB57. Brass's argument fails.

Brass did not object to Kimberly's testimony regarding the location data she discovered on V.M.'s phone.5 6AA1312. As such, it is waived or, if reviewed at all, reviewed for plain error. <u>Guy</u>, 108 Nev. at 780; <u>Maestas</u>, 128 Nev. at 146, 275 P.3d at 89.

Hearsay is a statement offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. NRS 51.035. A "statement" is an oral or written assertion, or nonverbal conduct of a person, if it is intended as an assertion. NRS 51.045. This court has further explained that data retrieved from a machine is not a "statement" that could be considered hearsay. <u>State v. Barr</u>, WL 5634157, 471 P.3d 754, *2 n.5 (unpublished) (September 18, 2020) (citing NRS 51.045; <u>see also Commonwealth v. Thissell</u>, 928 N.E.2d 932, 937 n.13 (Mass. 2010) (explaining that, "[b]ecause computer-generated records, by definition, do not contain a statement from a person, they do not necessarily implicate hearsay concerns")).

Additionally, pursuant to NRS 52.255:

⁵ Brass alleges that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to Kimberly's testimony. AOB57. However, given that all claims of ineffective assistance of counsel must first be pursued in a post-conviction habeas petition, the State has addressed that claim *infra* XI.

Except as otherwise provided in NRS 52.247, the original is not required, and other evidence of the contents of a writing, recording or photograph is admissible, if:

1. All originals are lost or have been destroyed, unless the loss or destruction resulted from the fraudulent act of the proponent;

2. No original can be obtained by any available judicial process or procedure;

3. At a time when an original was under the control of the party against whom offered, that party was put on notice, by the pleadings or otherwise, that the contents would be a subject of proof at the hearing, and that party does not produce the original at the hearing; or

4. The writing, recording or photograph is not closely related to a controlling issue.

NRS 52.255 is better known as the "best evidence rule." This Court has held that this rule applies to admitting copies of writings and not to whether writings must be admitted before a witness may testify to the writing's contents. <u>Tomlinson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 110 Nev. 757 (1994).

Here, at trial Kimberly testified that she learned A.W. was likely also a victim of Brass's abuse when she looked through V.M.'s phone and saw an email chain between V.M. and A.W. looking for abortion clinics and location data showing that the girls had been at Brass's brother's house. 6AA1312. First, Kimberly's testimony about the location data she saw was not hearsay as it was a direct observation of computer-generated data, and therefore properly admitted. Moreover, the testimony was offered to explain how she came to suspect that A.W. was also a victim of Brass's abuse and was not offered to establish that Brass in fact sexually assaulted either A.W. or V.M. at his home. Id. Second, Kimberly's statements about what location data she saw on V.M.'s phone did not violate the best evidence rule. In fact, the best evidence rule was not even implicated because the State did not move to admit any copy of the data Kimberly testified to. <u>Tomlinson</u>, 110 Nev. at 759. While Brass relies on <u>Stephans</u> <u>v. State</u>, 127 Nev. 712 to claim the opposite, <u>Stephans</u> is inapposite. <u>Stephans</u> held that because the value of items stolen is material to a prosecution for grand larceny, witness testimony to the price tags of specific items implicated the best evidence rule. <u>Id.</u> at 718-19. Unlike <u>Stephans</u>, Kimberly's testimony in the instant case regarding the location data she saw on V.M.'s phone was not material to any element of any of Brass's underlying charges. Therefore, the best evidence rule was not at issue here.

Finally, while the State argued during rebuttal argument that Brass could have taken V.M. and A.W. to his brother's apartment to sexually assault them, that argument does not constitute evidence and did not so infect the trial with unfairness that reversal is warranted. Moreover, that argument was not a reference to Kimberly's statement regarding the location data she saw. 7AA1552. Instead, it was a proper argument that what V.M. believed was a hotel could have been Brass's brother's apartment because her description of what the hotel looked like matched the description of said apartment. <u>Id.</u> This was not an argument that Kimberly's

statement regarding the location data should be relied on as true. Accordingly, Brass's argument fails.

VII. BRASS WAS CONVICTED BY AN IMPARTIAL JURY

Brass argues that four biased jurors: Juror Nos. 334, 484, 492, and 369; were seated even though there was evidence that they could not be impartial. AOB57. According to Brass, all four jurors should have been removed for cause and argues that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to ask Juror Nos. 334, 484, 492 follow up questions after the district court denied counsel's request to remove him for cause; and for failing to challenge juror No. 369. Brass's claim fails.

Before Brass may challenge an empaneled juror on appeal, they must first raise that claim at the trial court. <u>Sayedzada v. State</u>, 134 Nev. 283, 285, 419 P.3d 184, 188 (2018). Failure to do so waives their ability to raise the issue on appeal if the defendant knew about the facts below and did not object. <u>Id.</u> at 288, 419 P.3d at 190. While Brass initially asked to remove Jurors #484 and #492, he did not renew that request after the District Court questioned them further, and he never moved to strike Jurors #334 and #369.6 As such, Brass's claim is waived and should not be considered absent plain error. <u>Guy</u>, 108 Nev. at 780.

⁶ Brass alleges that counsel was ineffective for failing to renew his requests to remove these jurors. AOB59. However, given that all claims of ineffective assistance of counsel must first be pursued in a post-conviction habeas petition, the State has addressed that claim *infra* XI.

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